
  
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
  
2. MINUTES

 2.a. Consideration of the minutes of the December 8, 2021 Plan Commission meeting
 Attachment
  
3. PUBLIC HEARINGS

 3.a. Consideration of a Planned Unit Development (PUD) Master Land Use Plan for (part of)
249 Maple Avenue, 1534 and 1540 Shore Drive, and 214 and 226 Beach Avenue

 Attachment

 3.b. Consideration of Ordinance No. 3737 approving an amendment to the Zoning District Map
for (part of) 249 Maple Avenue, 1534 and 1540 Shore Drive, and 214 and 226 Beach
Avenue 

 3.c. Consideration of a Conditional Use Permit to allow a structure (silo) in excess of 75 feet in
an M-2, General Manufacturing District, for the property located at 555 Willowbrook Road
and the location and architectural design of a public building 

 Attachment
  
4. REPORTS

 4.a. Consideration of a two-lot Certified Survey Map for the properties located at (part of) 249
Maple Avenue; 1534 and 1540 Shore Drive; and 214 and 226 Beach Avenue

 Attachment

 4.b. Consideration of a request to annex 1022 W Froebel Drive from the Town of Beloit into the
City of Beloit

 Attachment

 4.c. Consideration of Ordinance no. 3727 to amend the Table in Section 6.1-1 of Chapter 19 of
the Code of General Ordinances of the City of Beloit pertaining to zoning of medical facility
uses in the C-1 and CBD-1 zoning districts

 Attachment
  
5. STATUS REPORT ON PRIOR PLAN COMMISSION ITEMS

AMENDED
PUBLIC NOTICE & AGENDA
BELOIT PLAN COMMISSION

City Hall Forum - 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511
7:00 PM 

Tuesday, December 21, 2021

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Plan Commission
Meeting Agenda - December 21, 2021

1

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1183126/12-08-2021_Plan_Commission_minutes-modified_by_Tim.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1182052/December_21_Staff_Report_3a-3b__PUD_and_ZMA__Meals_on_Wheels.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1181978/Dec_21_Staff_Report_3.c__CU-2021-10__555_Willowbrook_Rd__Silo_height_M-2.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1181956/December_21_Staff_Report_4a__CSM-2021-13__Meals_on_Wheels.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1181889/Dec_21_Staff_Report__4.b__ANX-2021-05__1022_Froebel_Drive__TOB_.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1183146/Dec_21_PC_Memo_and_Ordinance_-_ZTA-2021-04_-_approval_of_Ordinance_3727.pdf


Water Main Easement - 1505 Gateway Boulevard
  
6. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS

Conditional Use Permit - allow church at 910 Harrison Avenue
Conditional Use Permit - 1757 Prairie Avenue - Indoor alcohol
Conditional Use Permit - 246 W Grand Avenue - community service use
Two-Lot CSM for 1801 Gateway Boulevard
Permanent Zoning for 2021 Annexations (Porter and Forest Avenue)
ZMA – 5,000 square foot Portion of 1459 Sixth Street (from PLI to C-2) for LaMexicana

  
7. ADJOURNMENT

** Please note that, upon reasonable notice, at least 24 hours in advance, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs
of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services. For additional information to request this service, please
contact the City Clerk's Office at 364-6680, 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511.

 

 Plan Commission
Meeting Agenda - December 21, 2021

2



 

1 | P a g e  
 

        
MINUTES 

PLAN COMMISSION 
City Hall Forum - 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511 

7:00 PM 
Wednesday, December 8, 2021 

 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
Meeting was called to order at 7:03 PM.  Chairman Weeden, Commissioners Toral, 
Ramsden, Robson, Jacobsen, Finnegan, and Councilor Preuschl were present. 
Commissioner Anderson was absent. 
 

2. MINUTES 
2.a. Consideration of the minutes of November 17, 2021 Plan Commission meeting 

Motion was made by Commissioner Jacobsen, seconded by Commissioner Robson to 
approve the minutes. Motion carried, roll call vote (6-0). 
 

3. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
3.a. Consideration of an amendment to the Future Land Map of the Comprehensive 

Plan for the properties located at 214-226 Beach Avenue and 1540 Shore Drive 
Julie Christensen, Community Development Director, presented the staff report and   
recommendation. 
 
Commissioner Weeden asked Ms. Christensen what a PUD is, what the process is, 
and advantages for going forward. Ms. Christensen stated that a PUD is used for 
flexibility in site design and when the development includes more than one principal 
building. Ms. Christensen stated that the first step is submittal of a PUD master land 
use plan; the second step is a rezoning to PUD; and the third step is site plan review.  
 
Ms. Christensen stated that it benefits the neighborhood because the neighborhood 
knows exactly what the development will be and gives the City the ability to require 
that the site look attractive to the neighborhood.  
 
Commissioner Robson asked if any notice was given to the neighbors that live on 
Beach Avenue. Ms. Christensen stated that state law just requires notification to the 
governmental entities during the Comprehensive Plan process, and the neighbors are 
notified when the Plan Commission and City Council reviews the PUD and zoning. 
 
Chairperson Weeden opened the public hearing. 
 

3



 

2 | P a g e  
 

Joe Stadelman, 2431 East Ridge Road, Angus Young Associates Architects, 
representing Beloit Meals on Wheels, stated that he does not have a formal 
presentation but is there to answer any questions the Commissioners have for him.  
 
Commissioner Robson asked Mr. Stadelman if there is any intent to make the 
building green with solar panels. Mr. Stadelman stated that every project has a 
certain level of sustainability included in it, and the site design is meeting the site 
sustainability criteria. Mr. Stadelman stated they are under a tight budget and are 
not building anything more than they need to. Commissioner Robson stated that it is 
disappointing.  
 
Commissioner Weeden stated that it looks like on the site plan that there will be 
some sort of buffer between the trees and landscaping on Maple, and was 
wondering how large the buffer is going to be. Mr. Stadelman stated that it looks it is 
over twenty-four feet, and the lot is L shaped with two vacant lots. Mr. Stadelman 
stated that one of the things they want to include on the PUD is that there are 
sometimes summer events for donations that they end up using the two vacant lots.   
 
Chairperson Weeden closed the public hearing. 
 
Commissioner Robson moved to approve the amendment to the Future Land Use 
Map of the Comprehensive Plan, seconded by Commission Ramsden. Motion carried, 
roll call vote (6-0). 
 

4. REPORTS 
4.a. Consideration of a Resolution approving an extraterritorial two-lot Certified Survey 

Map for the property located on the 5900 block of State Highway 67 in the Town of 
Turtle 
Julie Christensen, Community Development Director, presented the staff report and   
recommendation. 
 
Commissioner Finnegan moved to approve the two-lot Certified Survey Map, 
seconded by Commissioner Robson. Motion carried, roll call vote (6-0). 
 

4.b. Consideration of a water main easement from the Greater Beloit Economic 
Development Corporation over the property located at 1505 Gateway Boulevard 
Julie Christensen, Community Development Director, presented the staff report and   
recommendation. 
 
Commissioner Robson asked if Tubbs Drive was named after Charlie Tubbs. Ms. 
Christensen stated that the City received a request to name a street after him, so the 
City chose to name this one after them when the Gateway Business Park was platted. 
 

4



 

3 | P a g e  
 

Commissioner Robson moved to approve the water main easement, seconded by 
Commissioner Ramsden. Motion carried, roll call vote (6-0). 

 
4.c. Consideration of Ordinance no. 3727 to amend the Table in Section 6.1-1 of Chapter 

19 of the Code of General Ordinances of the City of Beloit pertaining to zoning of 
medical facility uses in the C-1 and CBD-1 zoning districts 
Julie Christensen, Community Development Director, presented the staff report and   
recommendation. 
 
Tim McKevett, Beloit Health System, stated that he appreciates the City Staff and 
Commissioners time in working on this ordinance, and he met with the Morgan 
school neighbors and discussed future plans for that site. Mr. McKevett stated that 
he supports the ordinance that is on the agenda.  
 
Commissioner Robson stated that one of the proposals is to up zone which means 
that Beloit Health System would be able to build by right.  If they were to go back to 
the current proposal which is to allow medical facilities to be built on all of these C-1 
and CBD-1 properties, they would have the ability to do it by right. Commissioner 
Robson stated that there could be a competitor that could come, and Beloit Health 
System would not have a voice in the approval of that use.  
 
Mr. McKevett asked what up zoning is since he has not heard of that term before. 
Commissioner Robson stated that they are zoned C-1 and the proposal would be to 
rezone to C-2 and C-3.  
 
Ms. Christensen stated that assisted living is not allowed in the C-2 and C-3 districts. 
Ms. Christensen said that Mr. McKevett’s concern is that the assisted living is 
prohibited in C-2 and C-3, so it limits his options for assisted living on those sites 
where there is available land. 
 
Commissioner Robson said that Beloit Health System could build anything else but 
assisted living. Mr. McKevett said he is against the original Medical Facility 
Ordinance, but that is done at this point.  He would like the Plan Commission to go 
back to what was allowed in the Zoning Ordinance before the latest medical facility 
ordinance.  
 
Commissioner Ramsden said he would be in favor of going back to the option of 
rezoning for the properties at 2911 Prairie Ave, 1905 Huebbe Pkwy from C-1 to C-2, 
and 1670 Lee Lane and 1650 Lee lane from C-1 to C-3. Ms. Christensen said that her 
plan is to do an ordinance revision for assisted living, and at that time, the 
Commission can decide where to allow assisted living.  
 
Commissioner Weeden said that the plan is to get back to the original amendment 
that City staff is recommending, and the only problem would be that the additional 

5



 

4 | P a g e  
 

properties would fall under the Permitted Use rather than Conditional Use. 
Commissioner Finnegan said that all these properties are small, and a medical facility 
would not be fitting on these properties so it should not hurt anything. Commissioner 
Jacobsen said that she agrees and supports the Staff recommendation for C-1 and 
CBD-1 properties. 
 
Motion was made by Commissioner Jacobsen to approve Ordinance number 3727 to 
amend the Table in Section 6.1-1 of Chapter 19 of the Code of General Ordinances of 
the City of Beloit pertaining to zoning of medical facility uses in the C-1 and CBD-1 
zoning districts, seconded by Commissioner Finnegan. Motion fails, roll call vote, with 
Ramsden, Robson and Toral voting against (3, 3). 
 
Commissioner Ramsden made a motion to change the zoning for 1905 Huebbe 
Parkway and 2911 Prairie Ave from C-1 to C-2 zoning, seconded by Commissioner 
Robson. Tim McKevett said that he did not support the rezoning.  Motion was 
withdrawn by Commissioner Ramsden and the second was withdrawn by 
Commissioner Robson.   
 
Commissioner Weeden said that these properties would be zoned from C-1 to C-2 
and C-3, but assisted living would not be allowed on those four building sites. Ms. 
Christensen said that is correct. 
 
Commissioner Ramsden made a motion to reconsider the motion to approve 
Ordinance number 3727 to amend the Table in Section 6.1-1 of Chapter 19 of the 
Code of General Ordinances of the City of Beloit pertaining to zoning of medical 
facility uses in the C-1 and CBD-1 zoning districts.  Motion was seconded by 
Commissioner Robson. Motion prevails, voice vote (6-0). 

 
 
5. STATUS REPORT ON PRIOR PLAN COMMISSION ITEMS 

Ms. Christensen updated the Plan Commission on the actions taken by City Council related 
to a variety of items previously reviewed by Plan Commission.  The next Plan Commission 
meeting is scheduled for December 21, 2021.  Julie agreed to send the Plan Commissioners 
the issues raised by the entire group, following the workshop. 
 

6. ADJOURNMENT 
Commissioner Finnegan moved to adjourn the meeting, seconded by Commission Jacobsen 
at 8:05 PM.  
 
 
 

  
Timothy Weeden, Chairman 

 

6



REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION

Plan Commission Meeting Date: December 21, 2021

Agenda Item: 3a and 3b

File Number: PUD-2021-02 and ZMA-2021-13

General Information

Applicant: Beloit Meals on Wheels
Owner: City of Beloit and Donnie and Cheryl Jackson
Address/Location: Part of 249 Maple Avenue; 1534 and 1540 Shore Drive; and 214 and 226 Beach Avenue

Applicant’s Request/Proposal: Beloit Meals on Wheels has submitted an application for review and
consideration of a Planned Unit Development (PUD) - Master Land Use Plan for the redevelopment of the City-
owned and privately owned properties located at (part of) 249 Maple Avenue; 1534 and 1540 Shore Drive;
and 214 and 226 Beach Avenue. A copy of the PUD - Master Land Use Plan is attached. The applicant has also
submitted an application to rezone the subject properties from R-1B, Single-Family Residential District, to
PUD, Planned Unit Development District.

Planned Unit Development (PUD) Process: A PUD is a type of special purpose zoning district and a type of
development plan. PUD zoning districts are inextricably linked to PUD plans; no rights of development apply to
a PUD zoning designation other than those of the approved PUD plan. PUDs are processed in three stages:
Master Land Use Plan, Rezoning to PUD district and Final (Site) Plan. Master Land Use Plans and Zoning Map
Amendments may be processed concurrently, provided that no rezoning to the PUD district may occur until
approval of a PUD Master Land Use Plan.

Staff Analysis

Project Summary: This request is related to the applicant’s proposed purchase and redevelopment of the
above-referenced parcels into a new 2,521 square-foot office, storage, and food delivery building and related
improvements as shown on the attached site plan. While 214 and 226 Beach Avenue are privately owned, the
applicant is under contract to purchase 1534 and 1540 Shore Drive and part of 249 Maple Avenue from the
City for this project. A proposed Certified Survey Map (CSM) to create a 1.18-acre parcel for this
redevelopment and a one-acre parcel to be retained by the City along Maple Avenue is also under review. The
subject properties consist of vacant land. The City acquired most of the land in this area as part of the Maple
Avenue Redevelopment Plan in 2002-2004. The street was realigned and improved at that time, and the
remaining residential structures were removed for future redevelopment possibilities. The City Council
recently accepted the applicant’s offer to purchase land for this project, contingent upon land use approvals.

Surrounding Land Use and Zoning: There is an institutional property (union hall) to the north and single-
family dwellings zoned R-1B to the west of the subject properties. The Boys and Girls Club campus is located to
the south on the opposite side of Maple Avenue. The Rock Bar and Grill (zoned C-3, Community Commercial)
lies to the east.

Review Agent Comments: The City Engineer has requested an evaluation of whether the applicant can move
the Shore Drive driveway further north prior to site plan approval.

7



Zoning Ordinance Requirements:
Off-Street Parking: At least 10 off-street parking stalls are required, and the PUD Plan proposes 26
parking stalls, including two accessible stalls, which is ample parking. The applicant has proposed two
driveways – one on Shore Drive and another on Beach Avenue.
Density/Intensity and Dimensional Standards: The site plan shows minimum building setback lines of 30
feet along Maple Avenue, 15 feet along Shore Drive and Beach Avenue, and 10 feet along the interior
(western) lot line. The proposed building is actually set back much further, at more than 50 feet from the
three street sides and 15 feet from the western lot line. The proposed PUD plan contemplates use of the
extra land along Beach Avenue for occasional outdoor fundraising events, such as the annual 5k
fundraiser organized by Meals on Wheels. A special events tent may be erected in this area for these
events.
Building Design: As shown in the attached renderings, the proposed single-story building includes stone
and horizontal siding exterior finishes. The building also includes a large canopy to cover the
loading/unloading area to be used by volunteers and other delivery drivers.
Signage: The applicant is proposing a monument sign at the corner of Maple Ave and Shore Drive and
two wall signs on the building. Staff is recommending a condition to address signage allowances.
Electronic signs are allowed as message boards only (not freestanding signs), which has been addressed in
condition number five below.
Open Space: The site has ample open space – significantly more than the 15% required for new PUD sites.

PUD Master Land Use Plan Review Criteria: Applications may be approved if the following criteria are met:
1. The plan represents an improvement over what could have been accomplished through strict

application of otherwise applicable zoning ordinance standards, based on the purpose and intent
of this chapter.
The proposed development would not be allowed under the existing R-1B zoning classification. The
PUD provides greater certainty to the adjacent neighborhood about the types of low-impact uses
that will occur than if it was zoned under a conventional commercial zoning classification. The plan is
necessarily auto-oriented due the nature of the service being provided to the community.

2. The PUD Master Land Use Plan complies with the PUD district standards of Section 5-300.
As an infill project on long-vacant parcels, the proposed PUD will provide for efficient use of public
utilities and vacant land, and will be an attractive campus that is compatible with adjacent uses.

3. The City and other service providers will be able to provide necessary public services, facilities, and
programs to serve the development proposed, at the time the property is developed;
As a redevelopment site, the properties are already served with the necessary utilities and facilities.
The site is already served by bike/pedestrian paths and transit.

4. The development is consistent with and implements the planning goals and objectives contained in
the Comprehensive Plan and other adopted policy documents; and
The proposed development is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan’s recommendations to
redevelop the site as a mixed use district.

5. The PUD Master Land Use Plan is consistent with sound planning practice and the development
will promote the general welfare of the community.
The plan will redevelop an underutilized site that has slim prospects of developing as a retail or
mixed-use (residential over retail) site due to its distance from the interstate and downtown. In
recent years, the Maple Avenue corridor has experienced substantial institutional investment,
including the new School District administrative office building and the new Boys and Girls Club
campus. The applicant provides a valuable service to the community.

Zoning Map Amendment Findings of Fact: Based on Section 2-304 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan
Commission shall make a recommendation based on the following considerations:

8



1. The existing use of property within the general area of the subject property.
The requested amendments would extend the mixed use district along Maple Avenue north to Beach
Avenue, which is a logical extension that is compatible with the surrounding residential, commercial,
and institutional uses.

2. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the subject property.
The proposed PUD is consistent with the adjacent School District PUD, Boys and Girls Club PUD, and
the adjacent residential zoning district.

3. The suitability of the subject property for the uses permitted under the existing zoning classification.
The subject property is not suitable for the uses allowed in the R-1B district given its location on a
relatively busy roadway.

4. The trend of development and zoning map amendments in the general area of the subject property.
The School District Administrative Office was developed as a PUD in 2018-2019, which extended the
educational campus to Maple Avenue. The Boys and Girls Club was developed as a PUD, and is nearly
complete. The Rock Bar and Grill lies across Shore Drive and recently completed a substantial
renovation of their outdoor dining and entertainment facilities.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION – PUD MASTER LAND USE PLAN:
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of the PUD – Master Land Use Plan for the
properties located at (part of) 249 Maple Avenue; 1534 and 1540 Shore Drive; and 214 and 226 Beach Avenue,
subject to the following conditions:

1. This approval authorizes the construction of a 2,521 square-foot Meals on Wheels building, off-street
parking lot, temporary outdoor event space, and driveways as shown on the attached PUD Plan. This
approval authorizes the applicant to operate their nonprofit organization, but may not be transferred
to future property owners for a different use without an amendment to this PUD approval issued by
the City Council. A future addition to the building of up to 2,300 square feet is hereby authorized.

2. This approval shall not become effective unless and until the CSM creating the parcel to be developed
is recorded, and the applicant purchases (closes) on Lot 1 of the CSM.

3. An access driveway on Shore Drive and access driveway on Beach Avenue are permitted, with exact
locations to be determined during Site Plan Review.

4. The minimum building setback shall be 15 feet from all lot lines for all buildings on site. The maximum
building height shall be two stories. Two detached accessory buildings may be constructed on site.

5. The applicant is allowed to construct one freestanding ground-mounted sign of not more than 150
square feet plus an EVM (Electronically Variable-Message) panel up to 75 square feet as a secondary
component to a non-EVM sign panel. A freestanding EVM is prohibited. Up to three secondary, on-
premises wall signs are allowed.

6. Prior to issuance of a Building Permit, the applicant shall obtain site plan and architectural approval,
which shall include a detailed review of all site, grading, utility, landscape, and lighting plans.

7. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by the Plan
Commission and City Council by amending this PUD – Master Land Use Plan. The Director of Planning &
Building Services may approve minor changes administratively and allow accessory structures and uses
that comply with and meet all of the standards and requirements of the City of Beloit Municipal Code.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION – ZONING MAP AMENDMENT:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Zoning Map Amendment to change the
zoning district classification from R-1B, Single-Family Residential District to PUD District, for the properties
located at (part of) 249 Maple Avenue; 1534 and 1540 Shore Drive; and 214 and 226 Beach Avenue.

ATTACHMENTS: Location Map, PUD - Master Plan, Renderings, Application, Public Notice, and Mailing List.

9



Location Map

10



11



12



13



14



15



16



 

Dec 21 Staff Report 3.c, CU-2021-10, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 

 
 

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 
Plan Commission Meeting Date:  December 21, 2021 

Agenda Item:  3.c. 

File Number:  CU-2021-10 & RPB-2021-12 

General Information 

 
Applicant:  City of Beloit Water Resources Department  
Owner:  City of Beloit 
Address/Location:  555 Willowbrook Road (Wastewater Treatment Plant) 
Applicant’s Request:  Conditional Use Permit for an 84-foot tall biosolids silo at 555 
Willowbrook Road and the review of the location and architectural design of a new public 
building at the Water Pollution Control Facility (WPCF)  
 
Background 

The Water Resources Division’s change in how it handles biosolids requires new equipment and 
the construction of a new building to house the drying equipment and truck load out area. 
Regulation changes in sludge hauling will increase, and to take proactive measures, Water 
Resources will dry biosolids on site. Sludge drying will create a Class A biosolid that can be used 
as fertilizer with fewer restrictions, and drying reduces the volume of disposal by about 80 
percent.  
 
Section 7.3 of the Zoning Ordinance states that the maximum height restrictions in a zoning 
district (e.g. 75 feet in M-2) may be exceeded if reviewed and approved in accordance with the 
Conditional Use Permit review procedures. Also a new building is needed to house the drying 
equipment. Wisconsin Statutes 62.23(5) requires the location and architectural design of new 
public buildings to be referred to Plan Commission before it is approved by the City Council. 
 

 Staff Analysis 

Existing Conditions:  The subject property is a 60 acre parcel home to the Water Pollution 
Control Facility on the southeast side of the City just west of I-90. It is zoned M-2, General 
Manufacturing District. 

 

Location and Architectural Design: The new building housing the biosolids dewatering system 
and dryer will be 10,891 square-feet, setback about 1,000 feet from the Willowbrook Road. The 
project also includes a new access road, site drainage system, and the storage silo. The 
proposed storage silo will be 84-feet tall. The maximum height for a structure in the M-2 zoning 
district is 75 feet, requiring a conditional use permit for the silo portion of the project.  
 

17



 

Dec 21 Staff Report 3.c, CU-2021-10, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 

The exterior of the building will be constructed using precast wall panels with a brick form liner 
finish, EPDM (rubber membrane) flat roofing, galvanized metal doors, and aluminum windows. 
Wall pack lights will be secured to the exterior walls and overhead lighting will be added to light 
the paved surfaces. On the attached site plan, the drying building is listed as number 90 and the 
silo is 91.  
  

City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan:  The City’s Comprehensive Plan recommends Institutional 
and Community Services for the subject property. This request and the underlying zoning 
classification are consistent with this recommendation. 
   
Review Agent Comments:  The proposed CUP application was sent to the City’s review agents.  
No comments have been submitted. 
 
Public Comments:  The attached notice was published on the City’s website, published in the 
local newspaper, and mailed to property owners within 150 feet of the site. No comments have 
been received.  
 
Findings of Fact: Based on Section 2-504 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan Commission shall 
make a recommendation based on the following considerations: 
a. Whether the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the conditional use will be 

detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 
• The proposed storage silo is not expected to generate significant noise, odor, or glare.  

b. Whether the conditional use will be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in 
the immediate or vicinity for purposes already permitted; 
• The proposed silo is compatible with the adjacent M-2 zoned properties and industrial 

uses. 
c. Whether the conditional use will substantially diminish or impair property values within the 

neighborhood of the subject property; 
• The applicant’s improvements will not impact the surrounding property values. The site 

has substantial screening with berms and evergreens on all four sides.  
d. Whether the establishment of the conditional use will impede the normal and orderly 

development and improvement of the surrounding property; 
• The proposed storage silo will not impede nearby development. 

e. Whether the exterior architectural design or site layout of the proposed conditional use is so 
dissimilar or otherwise incompatible with existing or proposed development in the 
immediate neighborhood that it will cause a depreciation in property values; 
• The proposed improvements are compatible with the site and will require site plan 

approval, architectural review, and building permits prior to starting construction 
f. Whether adequate utilities, access roads, drainage or other necessary facilities will be 

available to serve the proposed use at the time of its occupancy or use; 
• Adequate facilities and infrastructure are available and currently serve the property. 

g. Whether adequate measures will be taken to minimize traffic congestion; and  
• The proposed additional silo will not cause an increase in traffic congestion. 

18



 

Dec 21 Staff Report 3.c, CU-2021-10, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 

h. Whether the conditional use will comply with all applicable regulations of the Zoning 
Ordinance. 
• The proposed use will comply with all other applicable regulations. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of a Conditional Use Permit 
to allow construction of an 84-foot tall biosolids silo in a M-2, General Manufacturing District 
and the review of the location and architectural design of a new public building at the Water 
Pollution Control Facility (WPCF) located at 555 Willowbrook Road, based on the above Findings 
of Fact and subject to the following: 
  
Ordinance Requirements: 
The following provisions of existing City Ordinances shall apply: 

1. Before constructing on site, the applicant shall obtain Site Plan approval, an 
Architectural Review Certificate, and Building Permits as required by Code. 

2. In accordance with Section 2-506 of the Zoning Ordinance, the applicant shall have 
twelve (12) months from the date of CUP issuance to commence use of the property, or 
the CUP shall lapse and be of no further effect. 
 

Permit Conditions:  
1. This Conditional Use Permit authorizes the construction of an 84-foot tall biosolid 

storage silo. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  CUP Decision Form, Location Map, Site Plan, Renderings, Application, Public 
Notice, Mailing List, and Public Comments. 
 

19



 

Dec 21 Staff Report 3.c, CU-2021-10, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 

Beloit Plan Commission CUP Decision Form 
 
When reviewing an application for a conditional use, the local government must look to the 
requirements and conditions found in the local zoning ordinance and determine if the applicant 
meets those requirements and conditions.  The local government must provide substantial 
evidence supporting their decision to grant or deny the permit, and to impose additional 
conditions on the permit.  Substantial evidence means facts and information, directly relating to 
the requirements and conditions, that a reasonable person would accept in support of a 
conclusion.  Personal preferences and speculation are not sufficient forms of evidence.  All 
requirements and conditions imposed by the local government must be reasonable, and to the 
extent practicable, measurable. 
 

Ordinance Requirements 
List ordinance requirements related to the conditional use permit: 

 

1. Before constructing on site, the applicant shall obtain Site Plan approval, an Architectural 
Review Certificate, and Building Permits as required by Code 
Substantial Evidence: Section 2-600 of the Zoning Ordinance requires Site Plan approval 
for all new structures or additions.   Chapter 34 of The Architectural Review Code requires 
review and approval of all exterior changes to municipal and public facilities. Section 9.12 
of the Building Code requires a permit to be obtained prior to the construction. There are 
no active permits or approvals in place for this project.  

 

2. In accordance with Section 2-506 of the Zoning Ordinance, the applicant shall have twelve 
(12) months from the date of CUP issuance to commence use of the property, or the CUP 
shall lapse and be of no further effect. 
Substantial Evidence: Standardized condition that reiterates the expiration date for unused 
CUP’s in the Zoning Ordinance. 

 

Permit Conditions 
A local government is authorized to impose conditions on the permit that relate to the purpose of 
the ordinance.  Conditions must be reasonable, and to the extent practicable, measurable.  
Conditions may limit the permit’s duration, transfer, or renewal. List conditions imposed on the 
permit:  
 

1. This Conditional Use Permit allows the construction of an 84-foot tall biosolids silo in an M-2, 
General Manufacturing zoning district located 555 Willowbrook Road. 

• Substantial Evidence:  Section 7.3 of the Zoning Ordinance states that the maximum 
height restrictions in a zoning district may be exceeded if reviewed and approved in 
accordance with the Conditional Use Permit review procedures, and this condition 
articulates that the proposed development standard is deemed appropriate at this 
location based on the Findings of Fact and ordinance requirements. 

 
 

Does the applicant meet all of the ordinance requirements?  No   Yes, after the steps 
above.

20



 

Dec 21 Staff Report 3.c, CU-2021-10, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 

Location Map – 555 Willowbrook Road 
 

21



 

Dec 21 Staff Report 3.c, CU-2021-10, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 
22



 

Dec 21 Staff Report 3.c, CU-2021-10, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 
23



 

Dec 21 Staff Report 3.c, CU-2021-10, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 
24



 

Dec 21 Staff Report 3.c, CU-2021-10, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 
25



 

Dec 21 Staff Report 3.c, CU-2021-10, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 
26



 

Dec 21 Staff Report 3.c, CU-2021-10, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 
27



 

Dec 21 Staff Report 3.c, CU-2021-10, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 

 

 

 
 
 
 

28



 

Dec 21 Staff Report 3.c, CU-2021-10, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 

 

 

29



 

Dec 21 Staff Report 3.c, CU-2021-10, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 

 

 
WILLOWBROOK STATELINE LLC 

525 THIRD ST SUITE 300 
BELOIT WI 53511 

 

    

 
HO-CHUNK NATION 

P O BOX 310 
BLACK RIVER FALLS WI 54615 

 

    

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

30



REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION

Plan Commission Meeting Date: December 21, 2021

Agenda Item: 4a

File Number: CSM-2021-13
General Information

Applicant: R.H. Batterman & Co., Inc., on behalf of Beloit Meals on Wheels
Owner: City of Beloit and Donnie and Cheryl Jackson
Address/Location: 249 Maple Avenue; 1534 and 1540 Shore Drive; and 214 and 226 Beach Avenue
Applicant’s Request: Two-Lot Certified Survey Map (CSM)

Staff Analysis

Background Info: R.H. Batterman & Co., Inc., on behalf of Beloit Meals on Wheels, has submitted an
Application for the Review of a Minor Subdivision and a two-Lot CSM for the City-owned and
privately owned properties located at 249 Maple Avenue; 1534 and 1540 Shore Drive; and 214 and
226 Beach Avenue. This project is being proposed as a Planned Unit Development (PUD) - Master
Land Use Plan and PUD zoning, which are separate agenda items.

CSM Details: This request is related to the applicant’s proposed purchase and redevelopment of
proposed Lot 1 into a new 2,521 square-foot office, storage, and food delivery building and related
improvements as shown on the attached site plan. While 214 and 226 Beach Avenue are privately
owned, the applicant is under contract to purchase 1534 and 1540 Shore Drive and part of 249 Maple
Avenue from the City for this project. Proposed Lot 1 is 1.18-acres in area and includes 174 feet of
street frontage along Maple Avenue, 216 feet of street frontage along Shore Drive and 292 feet of
street frontage along Beach Avenue. Lot 2 is one acre along Maple Ave and will be retained by the
City.

Review Agent Comments: No comments have been received.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of the attached two-Lot Certified
Survey Map (CSM) for the properties located at 249 Maple Avenue; 1534 and 1540 Shore Drive; and
214 and 226 Beach Avenue, subject to the following conditions:

1. The final CSM shall be recorded at closing, as proposed Lot 1 consists of land with two distinct
owners of record.

2. The final CSM shall be recorded with the Rock County Register of Deeds within one year of
approval and a copy provided to the Planning and Building Services Division.

ATTACHMENTS: Location Map, Proposed CSM, Application, and Resolution.

31



Location Map (CSM Boundary in Blue)

32



33



34



RESOLUTION
APPROVING A TWO-LOT CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP

FOR THE PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 249 MAPLE AVENUE; 1534 AND 1540 SHORE DRIVE;
AND 214 AND 226 BEACH AVENUE

WHEREAS, Section 12.05(1)b of Chapter 12 of the Code of General Ordinances of the City of
Beloit entitled “Subdivision and Official Map Ordinance” authorizes the City Plan Commission of the City
of Beloit to approve, conditionally approve, or reject any minor subdivision of land within the
jurisdiction of the City; and

WHEREAS, the attached two-lot Certified Survey Map for the properties located at 249 Maple
Avenue; 1534 and 1540 Shore Drive; and 214 and 226 Beach Avenue, containing 2.14 acres, is located
within the jurisdiction of the City of Beloit; and

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission of the City of Beloit has reviewed the attached two-lot
Certified Survey Map, which pertains to the following described land:

LOTS 1 THROUGH 12 AND LOTS 19 THROUGH 21 OF BLOCK 2 OF TWIN OAKS ADDITION;
BEING PART OF GOVERNMENT LOT 3 OF SECTION 26, TOWNSHIP 1 NORTH, RANGE 13
EAST, OF THE 4TH P.M., CITY OF BELOIT, ROCK COUNTY, WISCONSIN.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Plan Commission of the City of Beloit does hereby
conditionally approve the attached two-lot Certified Survey Map for the properties located at 249 Maple
Avenue;, 1534 and 1540 Shore Drive; and 214 and 226 Beach Avenue, subject to the following
conditions:

1. The final CSM shall be recorded at closing, as proposed Lot 1 consists of land with two distinct
owners of record.

2. The final CSM shall be recorded with the Rock County Register of Deeds within one year of
approval and a copy provided to the Planning and Building Services Division.

Adopted this 21st day of December, 2021.

PLAN COMMISSION

_
Tim Weeden, Chairman

ATTEST:

Julie Christensen
Community Development Director

35



  

 

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 
Plan Commission Meeting Date:  December 21, 2021 

Agenda Item:  4.b.  

File Number:  ANX-2021-05 

 

General Information 

 
Applicant:  Mary Shepherd 
 
Owner:  Shepherd Family Revocable Trust 
 
Address/Location:  1022 Froebel Drive 
 
Applicant’s Request:  Petition for (Direct) Annexation for the property located at 1022 Froebel 
Drive in the Town of Beloit.  
 
Jurisdiction:  Town of Beloit  
 

Staff Analysis 

 
Existing Conditions:  The applicant resides in the existing single-family dwelling on the subject 
property. The existing septic system on the subject property will eventually need to be 
replaced. Therefore, the applicant would like to be connected to the City’s sanitary sewer 
system before septic system failure. The subject property must be located in the City in order to 
connect to the City’s sewer system.  
 
Surrounding Land Use and Zoning:  The subject property is zoned R1, Single-Family Residential 
District (Town Zoning). The attached Location and Zoning Map shows the location of this 
property and the zoning of the surrounding area. The adjacent zoning and land uses are as 
follows: 

o North: R1, Single-Family Residential District, Single-Family Dwelling (TOB) 
o South: PUD, Planned Unit Development,  Multi-Family Residential Uses (COB) 
o East: R1, Single-Family Residential District, Single-Family Dwelling (TOB) 
o West: R-1A, Single-Family Residential District, Single-Family Dwelling (COB) 

 
Municipal Utilities:  The City has an existing sanitary sewer main in Froebel Drive and  acquired 
right-of-way in front of 1022 Froebel Drive during 1014 Froebel Drive’s 2018 annexation. The 
subject property is located within the City’s 208 Sewer Service Area. Rock County’s 208 Water 
Quality Plan specifies that this area will be served by the City’s public sanitary sewer system. 
 

36



  

City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:  The Future Land Use Map recommends 
Single-Family Residential – Urban uses for the subject property. The proposed annexation and 
sewer connection are consistent with this recommendation. This request supports Strategic 
Goal #1 by creating and sustaining safe and healthy neighborhoods and Goal #5 by creating and 
sustaining high quality infrastructure and connectivity. 
 
Boundary Continuity:  The subject property is currently contiguous to the City of Beloit because 
of a previous annexation of 1014 Froebel Drive. The Wisconsin Department of Administration’s 
Municipal Boundary Review Office and the Town of Beloit Clerk have been notified of this 
annexation request. 
 
Future Zoning Classification:  When property is annexed to the City, a temporary zoning 
classification must be assigned until an Ordinance approving a Zoning Map Amendment is 
adopted by the City Council. Staff recommends that the temporary zoning classification for this 
property be R-1A, Single-Family Residential District, because of the size, location, and 
surrounding land uses of the property. A Zoning Map Amendment with a recommendation for a 
permanent zoning classification will be processed by staff in the near future. 
 
Sustainability Criteria:  A reduction in the number of septic systems located in urbanized areas 
will reduce groundwater contamination. The provision of sewer service will satisfy the owner’s 
need for a healthy and sanitary dwelling. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of the attached Petition for 
Annexation to the City of Beloit for the property located at 1022 Froebel Drive in the Town of 
Beloit and assignment of a temporary zoning district classification of R-1A, Single-Family 
Residential. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  Location Map, Petition for Annexation, and Plat. 
 

37



Dec 21 Staff Report, 4.b, ANX-2021-05, 1022 Froebel Drive (TOB)     

LOCATION MAP 
 

38



Dec 21 Staff Report, 4.b, ANX-2021-05, 1022 Froebel Drive (TOB)     
39



Dec 21 Staff Report, 4.b, ANX-2021-05, 1022 Froebel Drive (TOB)     

 

40



Dec 21 Staff Report, 4.b, ANX-2021-05, 1022 Froebel Drive (TOB)     

 
 

41



 

 

Memorandum 
 
 
 TO:  Plan Commissioners 

 DATE: December 20, 2021 

 FROM:   Julie Christensen, Community Development Director 

 RE:  Ordinance 3727 

 
 
On December 8, 2021, the Plan Commission made a motion to approve Ordinance 
3737, the medical facility ordinance amendment to allow medical facilities to be 
permitted by right in the C-1, Office District, and CBD-1, Central Business District-
Core.  The motion failed (3-3), with Commissioners Ramsden, Robson, and Toral 
voting against. 
 
After much discussion, the motion for approval of the ordinance was 
reconsidered, with a motion being made by Commissioner Ramsden, seconded by 
Commissioner Robson to reconsider.  This was allowable due to the fact that the 
two Commissioners were on the prevailing side of the original motion.  That 
motion passed by a vote of 6-0. 
 
However, the Commission never actually reconsidered the item, as there was no 
motion to approve/deny Ordinance 3727, following the approval of the action to 
reconsider.  The item has been added to your agenda to allow you to take the 
vote on Ordinance 3727.  The ordinance is attached. 

42



 
 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 3727 

 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE TABLE IN SECTION 6.1-1 OF CHAPTER 19 OF 
THE CODE OF GENERAL ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF BELOIT PERTAINING TO 
ZONING OF MEDICAL FACILITY USES IN THE C-1 AND CBD-1 ZONING DISTRICTS 

 
  

The City Council of the City of Beloit, Rock County, Wisconsin do ordain as follows: 
 

Section 1.  Table 6.1-1 of the Zoning Ordinance, Chapter 19 of the Code of General Ordinances 
of the City of Beloit, is hereby amended to include the following amendment under Institutional and 
Civic Use Categories:  

 

Use Category  Specific Use Type  

Residential  Commercial  Mfg.  

Conditions  R  
1  
A  

R  
1  
B  

R  
2  

R  
3  

R  
4  

C  
1  

C  
2  

C  
3  

C  
B  
D  
1  

C  
B  
D  
2  

M  
1  

M  
2  

Institutional and Civic Use Categories 

Medical Facility  - - - C C P P P P P - -  

 
Section 2.  If any section, clause, provision or portion of this ordinance is judged 

unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of the ordinance shall 
remain in force and not be affected by such judgment. 

 
Section 3.   This ordinance shall be in force and take effect upon passage and publication.  

 
Adopted this ____ day of _____________________, 2021. 

 
CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF BELOIT 

 
 
      By: _________________________________ 

           Clinton Anderson, President 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:        
      Marcy J Granger, City Clerk-Treasurer 
 
PUBLISHED:      
EFFECTIVE DATE:     
01-611100-5231-     
Ch. 19 - 6.1.1 Medical Facilities = ORD 20210920  (21-1128) 

43


	Plan Commission Agenda
	2021-1898 - Attachment
	2021-1897 - Attachment
	2021-1902 - Attachment
	2021-1900 - Attachment
	2021-1901 - Attachment
	2022-4 - Attachment

